A Literature Review Investigating the Role of Sex and Gender in Atrial Fibrillation Outcomes

Authors: Randil Vithanage (Faculty of Science), Tasneem Alnahhas (Faculty of Health Science), Elise Shupe (Faculty of Kinesiology), Rachel Dalgleish (Faculty of Kinesiology), Muhammad Bajwa (Faculty of Science)

Faculty of Health Sciences Department, McMaster University Supervisors: Dr. Stacey Ritz and Dr. Jennifer Williams April 2024

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Introduction	
Methodology	4
Search Strategy	
Inclusion Criteria	
Exclusion Criteria	
Screening and Selection Process	6
Genes	6
Hormones	7
Organs and Body	9
Environmental Influences	11
Sociocultural Influences	13
Healthcare & Treatment Discrepancies:	
Symptom Presentation Discrepancy:	14
Racial Disparities	15
Conclusion	16
Acknowledgments	

Abstract

Atrial fibrillation (AF), the most common cardiac arrhythmia, presents distinct challenges influenced by sex and gender. To preface, *sex* refers to biological attributes (chromosomal, hormonal, and physiological), while gender involves a set of sociocultural roles, behaviours, and expectations prescribed to individuals according to their attributed-at-birth sex. While men exhibit higher AF prevalence, women face disproportionately severe outcomes, including increased stroke risk, hospitalizations, and mortality. This review explores the interplay of genetic, hormonal, physiological, and environmental factors driving these disparities. Sex-specific genetic pathways, such as mutations in KCN1 and KCNE5, alongside hormonal influences like estrogen's dual effects on cardioprotection and arrhythmogenesis, contribute to variations in AF risk. Additionally, structural and functional differences in the heart, such as ventricular wall thickness and cardiac output, further differentiate AF presentations between sexes. Environmental and sociocultural factors, including chronic stress and underutilization of anticoagulation therapies, exacerbate gender-based inequities, particularly among women. Recognizing these multifaceted influences is crucial for developing personalized prevention, diagnosis, and management strategies. This literature review advocates for integrating sex and gender considerations into clinical guidelines to improve outcomes for all individuals affected by AF

Keywords: Atrial Fibrillation, Sex, Gender, Health, Social Determinants of Health

Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common type of heart arrhythmia, which is when the heart beats in an irregular rhythm (NHS, 2017). Normally, the electrical signals within the heart are coordinated to allow the atria and the ventricles to contract in a synchronized manner, however, in AF, the electrical signals in the atria are disorganized, leading to chaotic contractions of the atria (NHS, 2017). As a result, the atria quiver or fibrillate instead of contracting effectively, leading to an irregular heartbeat.

Each year in the United States, over 454,000 hospitalizations occur with AF as the primary diagnosis, and the condition is associated with approximately 158,000 deaths annually (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022). Furthermore, the death rate attributed to AF, either as the primary cause or as a contributing factor, has been steadily increasing over the past two decades. Common symptoms of AF include heart palpitations, light-headedness, extreme fatigue, shortness of breath, and chest pain (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022). Although the main cause of AF may vary from person to person, some of the most common risk factors are advancing age, high blood pressure, obesity, European ancestry, diabetes, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, hyperthyroidism, chronic kidney disease, moderate to heavy alcohol use, smoking, and enlargement of the chambers on the left side of the heart (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022).

Studies have shown that AF is more prevalent in men compared to women (Ko et al., 2016). Specifically, the Global Burden of Disease reported an estimated age-adjusted prevalence of 12.6 million women and 20.9 million men living with AF globally in 2010 (Chugh et al., 2014). However, research shows that women with AF tend to have poorer outcomes compared to men, including higher rates of stroke, hospitalization, and mortality (Ko et al., 2016). This

difference can be attributed to varying major risk factors by sex and differences in symptom presentation. For example, certain risk factors for AF may affect men and women differently. For instance, obesity may be a stronger risk factor for AF in women compared to men (Ko et al., 2016). Additionally, women experience different symptoms than men, with some experiencing symptoms that are considered to be less typical such as fatigue, shortness of breath, and fainting, rather than the more typical palpitations experienced by men (Ball et al., 2013; Scheuermeyer et al., 2015). This can exacerbate treatment disparities, as physicians may question the severity of the condition (Paquette et al., 2000).

Although there is a vast amount of literature on AF as well as its demographics, there is a scarcity of attention given to the sex and gender differences that are associated with AF. In this case study, we will explore how the interaction of physiological, environmental, and sociocultural factors surrounding sex and gender affect AF.

Methodology

This review aimed to explore the relationship between sex, gender, hormones, and atrial fibrillation (AF), with a focus on how environmental and sociocultural influences impact the development and progression of the condition. To achieve this, we conducted a comprehensive search of the relevant literature using key terms such as "atrial fibrillation," "sex," "gender," "hormones," "organs and body," "environmental influences," and "sociocultural influences."

Search Strategy

A systematic search was conducted in PubMed to identify articles that were relevant to the topic. We focused on studies published in peer-reviewed journals from 1994 onwards to capture the most recent developments in the field.

Inclusion Criteria

The articles included in this review met the following criteria:

- Focused on atrial fibrillation and its relation to sex, gender, hormones, and environmental or sociocultural influences
- Included primary research studies, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, or other review articles
- Studies involving human participants
- Articles published from 1994 onward

Exclusion Criteria

Articles were excluded if they met the following criteria:

- Focused on animal studies or non-human subjects
- Did not specifically address atrial fibrillation or the specified influencing factors
- Were not available in full text
- Studies that were not peer-reviewed (e.g., conference abstracts, opinion pieces)

Screening and Selection Process

The initial search yielded 80 articles. These articles were then screened for relevance based on their titles and abstracts. After removing duplicates and articles that did not meet the inclusion criteria, we selected 31 articles for full-text review. These included a mix of systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and primary research studies. Each article was assessed for its relevance and

quality, ensuring that only studies with rigorous methodology and strong evidence were included in the final review.

Genes

Genetic changes within an individual's genome may directly cause AF, and may also affect a person's risk for developing AF. With increasing research being done to map the entire human genome, new genetic loci that are associated with AF are constantly being found (Vinciguerra et al., 2024). These genes tend to be associated most commonly with European ancestry. When there is a hereditary gene that causes AF, this is known as familial AF. An article by Vinciguerra and colleagues examined genes that are known to directly cause AF, and also genes that make an individual more predisposed to certain risk factors for AF such as electrical irregularities, structural remodelling of the heart and vasculature, and increased inflammation. The most common gene that directly causes AF is a mutation in a gene called KCNQ1 which gives instructions for building ion channels within heart muscle. This directly affects the electrical rhythm of the heart as the channel transports potassium (positive electrical charge) out of the cells (Chen et al., 2003). This effectively shortens action potential duration in the heart, and the refractory period. This genetic mutation is much more common in women that in men (Lorca et al., 2020). Further research is needed to fully determine why the prevalence differs, but initial hypotheses suggest hormonal influences, differences in ion channel function, and other genetic and environmental factors (Lorca et al., 2020). There are also sex-linked genes that play a role in influencing AF risk, such as KCNE5 at Xq23 and EMD at Xq28, although there is little research on this topic (Wren & Davies, 2022). Sex-linked traits are most often connected to the larger X-chromosome since it contain more genes than the Y-chromosome (Basta & Pandya, 2023). Since males only have 1 X chromosome, they are more likely to develop AF if there is

genetic variance found on the X chromosome. However, when we examine individuals older than 75 years of age, we see a higher incidence in the female population, likely due to the increased longevity observed in the female populations (Westerman & Wenger, 2019). This indicates that predisposition to the development of AF is clearly not solely due to genetic influence, and likely is modulated by a unique blend of environmental, social, and physiological factors.

Hormones

The disparities that can be observed in the incidence and severity of AF between males and females may be related to the sex hormone, estrogen. Although estrogen is known to be cardioprotective, recent evidence suggests that it may play a role in hindering ion channel function, elevating the severity of certain arrhythmias (Erlandstodder et al., 2023). A recent review found that many reproductive health factors can increase a woman's risk for developing AF, indicating that sex hormones play a role in risk modulation for this disease. A study by Lu et al in 2022 found that abnormally early or late onset of menstruation, irregular cycles, or the early or late onset of menopause all increased women's risk of developing AF. Having less than 30 "reproductive" years (described as the time between the onset of menarche and menopause) was also associated with an increased risk of AF. This increased risk may be due to a shorter lifetime exposure to endogenous estrogen, which as mentioned above, is established to have cardioprotective effects (Lu et al., 2022). When we examine the role of exogenous estrogen and progestin as used in hormone replacement therapy and its effect on AF risk, this relationship becomes even more complicated. Users of estradiol-only HRT showed no significant elevated risk for AF, while users of all other HRTs did show elevated risk for the development of AF (Lee et al., 2021). When examining past users of HRT, estradiol plus progestin users actually showed

a significantly decreased risk for AF. In comparison, looking at the use of oral contraceptives (OCs), the literature shows that OCs are not associated with an increased risk of AF. Rather, there is evidence of a decrease in risk associated with the prolonged use of OCs (Dou et al., 2023). Although some of these results are confounding, it is important to establish that it is relatively unknown whether exogenous sex hormones (such as those used in HRT and OCs) have the same mechanism of action, and the same effect on our body's cells, as endogenous sex hormones.

Exploring stress and stress hormones such as cortisol, we see that there is a connection with the risk of developing AF. A literature review highlights that chronic stress as well as high levels of cortisol are associated with an increased risk for the development of AF. While both men and women experience stress, the manifestation and consequences of this stress often differ. Women are more likely to experience chronic stress, which often stems from multiple factors such as playing roles of caregiving, career, and societal expectations (American Psychological Association, 2023). This chronic stress can lead to dysregulation of the stress hormones through the autonomic nervous system, contributing to physiological changes that increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases such as AF. Lastly, women may be more likely to internalize stress due to societal norms, leading to behaviours like emotional eating or sedentary habits, which further exacerbate cardiovascular risks. Further insights of stress through the lens of environmental influences are discussed later in this paper.

Finally, another biological difference between males and females is the process of pregnancy. Although studies on AF and pregnancy are limited, there is an association observed between pregnancy and significant hemodynamic changes, including increased blood volume which leads to four-chamber cardiac dilatation, and up to 50% increased cardiac output by the

seventh month of pregnancy (O'Neal et al., 2014). Furthermore, the elevated levels of different catecholamines and hormones present during pregnancy contribute to the different risk factors associated with AF. Studies report that AF usually happens during the third trimester or within 24 hours of postpartum. These significant physiological changes during pregnancy may also help to explain the disparities between males and females for the onset of AF.

Organs and Body

A primary effect of AF is that it increases an individual's risk for blood clots in the heart, creating an elevated risk of stroke (Cove et al., 2013). Even though women are less likely to develop AF, when they do they have a higher risk of stroke and other thromboembolic events (Marzona et al., 2018). This may be due to the under-utilization of certain pharmacotherapies such as anticoagulants for females, but there is also evidence to suggest a more physiological basis for these trends (Cove et al., 2013). Males and females each have differences in vasculature and hemodynamics. As women become older, they go through physiological changes at a greater rate than men such as increased pulse pressure, increased arterial stiffness, and thickened left ventricle that predispose them to increased risk for cardiovascular complications (Cove et al., 2013). This may explain why women with AF are more likely to experience stroke, with more severe complications. A systematic review also explored adverse clinical events in almost 1,000,000 patients with AF and found that in general women were at a significantly higher risk for stroke than men (Marzona et al., 2018). Interestingly, when taking into account ethnicity, Asian women with AF were found to not be at higher risk for stroke. Although there was no mechanism provided for this difference, it does indicate that race and sex together may play a role in the differences observed in stroke risk for AF patients and should be further explored.

Looking further at physiological differences, the female heart tends to beat at a faster rate, and has a greater ejection fraction, but generates a smaller cardiac output compared to an average male (St Pierre et al., 2022). If we apply allometric scaling, which is looking at the different inputs and outputs of the heart and comparing it to the different sizes of males and females, while controlling for lean body mass and other factors, we see that the female heart is still much different in physiology compared to the male heart (St Pierre et al., 2022). This demonstrates that the female heart is not just a smaller-sized male heart, but is subject to many different variables that contribute to its physiology as well as the diseases associated with its structure. The smaller, faster, beating heart of females may be associated with worse outcomes of AF but may provide a preventative measure for the onset of AF. Furthermore, muscle composition and wall thickness of the heart's chambers may be an important contributing factor for AF. Studies have shown an association between the larger left atria, as well as increased left ventricular wall thickness and the risk of AF (Vaziri et al., 1994). On average, in absolute terms, men tend to have a greater left ventricular wall thickness and larger left atria which may explain the higher rates of AF in men compared to women (Kishi et al., 2015). These studies show a clear trend, as the independent anatomy of the heart in males and females directly correlates to its physiology as well as the risks of AF that may be associated with it.

Exploring the interaction of comorbidities and the risk of AF, we may observe another one of the most common heart conditions - myocardial infarction (MI). Research shows a connection between AF and MI (Soliman et al., 2014). Specifically, it was found that women experience a higher association between AF and MI compared to their male counterparts. Furthermore, there is a higher association of AF and contracting coronary heart disease within females compared to men, when looking at a study in older adults (O'Neal et al., 2014). These studies show that AF is more associated with other diseases and co-morbidities in females, compared to males, and this association should be further explored.

Environmental Influences

Environmental and community factors may also contribute to the onset and an individual's susceptibility to AF. There is extensive research on social determinants that contribute to the onset of AF, including stress, ethnicity, gender, sex, socioeconomic status, social support, and healthcare treatment (Essien et al., 2021). Literature shows that the lack of social support is a major factor in the increased development of AF (Essien et al., 2021). Social support is a key factor in quality of life but is often not encouraged adequately in younger, male demographics (O'Neil et al., 2018). From a young age, boys are not typically forced into social settings and therefore may develop antisocial behaviours that can lead to deficits in strong, intimate friendships/relationships and ultimately emotional dysregulation (O'Neil et al., 2018). Masculinity and gender roles can play a role in causing this maladaptive stress response that may come off as anger, which can manifest into symptoms of AF (O'Neil et al., 2018).

Another environmental factor that can lead to the manifestation of AF is the social reliability and act of drinking caffeine in the form of coffee (Coppi et al., 2023). Coffee consumption is a large part of many lifestyles, often related to the act of getting coffee with friends, family, and coworkers (Coppi et al., 2023). Since caffeine is a stimulant, it increases blood pressure, and heart rate, and can temporarily block adenosine receptors - which are important in sustaining heart rhythm - leading to the onset of AF (Coppi et al., 2023). One study found that men who drank fewer cups of coffee per day (1-3 cups) had a lower risk of developing AF (Vijaykumar Bodar et al., 2019). However, a study on women found that they were 36% more likely to develop AF with only slightly more caffeine consumption, specifically 2-4 cups

per day (Conen et al., 2010). This may mean that women are more likely to develop AF from increased caffeine consumption compared to men.

Acute stress and anxiety is other environmental factors that can lead to the onset of AF. due to the role stress plays on the heart through the autonomic nervous system and the hypothalamus pituitary adrenal axis (Svensson et al., 2017). Stress can produce electrophysiological changes to the sinoatrial (SA) node and the atrioventricular (AV) node, which are responsible for regulating heart rhythm, potentially leading to altered heart rhythm and the onset of AF. One study found that women were more likely to develop stress-induced AF, whereas men did not develop AF from stress (Svensson et al., 2017). This may mean that women who experience acute stress at a high degree are at an increased risk of developing AF. Acute stress and anxiety can lead to increased caffeine consumption and lifestyle/dietary changes that can therefore lead to a cycle of behaviours that increase the risk for the manifestation of AF (Coppi et al., 2023). This calls for action by physicians to equally treat, prescribe, and refer everyone with symptoms of AF, regardless of sex or gender. Physicians should also consider all possible environmental factors including lifestyle, diet, and social determinants while triaging patients for common AF symptoms. It is not only physical symptoms, genetics, and cell-related, but AF can also be brought on by environmental and community influences.

Sociocultural Influences

Healthcare & Treatment Discrepancies:

Societal and cultural norms have significantly influenced healthcare system biases regarding gender, affecting the delivery of healthcare for AF. Access to healthcare is another key social determinant that might prevent people from getting proper treatment for AF (Bhave et al., 2015). For many new diagnoses, receiving treatment from a specialist elicits the best improvements in symptoms, but women are significantly less likely to receive the same treatment or see a specialist at all, when compared to men (Bhave et al., 2015). In regards to treatment options like catheter ablation, anticoagulant prescription, and rhythm control medications, women are also significantly less likely to receive a catheter ablation or be prescribed anticoagulants compared to men (Bhave et al., 2015). Research shows, that women are more likely to be older, experience worse symptoms, and have more comorbidities at the time of diagnosis, which leads to a lower quality of life with AF (Kostopoulou et al., 2019). Since women are less likely to be prescribed anticoagulants and are less likely to be taken seriously by medical professionals, there have been more instances and risk of stroke in females with AF compared to males (Kostopoulou et al., 2019). Research suggests that women are less likely to receive referral to a specialist, and their perceived symptoms are taken less seriously compared to men (Kostopoulou et al., 2019).

Symptom Presentation Discrepancy:

The reason for the healthcare and treatment discrepancies may be attributed to the difference in presentation of symptoms between men and women. Research indicates that the clinical presentation of AF significantly varies between men and women, with women experiencing more symptoms such as weakness and fatigue instead of common symptoms of AF experienced by men (Ball et al., 2013; Scheuermeyer et al., 2015). This is significant as it contributes to the perceived gender stereotypes in healthcare that women may exacerbate their symptoms, resulting in the delay of their treatment and care by healthcare workers (Ball et al., 2013b; Paquette et al., 2000). Furthermore, these differences in symptom presentation also influence how doctors and nurses may manage rate and rhythm control for AF. An ORBIT-AF

registry found that women were less likely to receive beta-blocker therapy, with 62% compared to 65.5% in men, and were more likely to receive digoxin, with 24.6% in men compared to 22.6% in women (Piccini et al., 2016). In addition, research highlights that women were found to be more likely to be prescribed digoxin compared to men, increasing all-cause mortality, vascular death, and sudden death in women (Washam et al., 2015). The consistent preference of healthcare workers to treat women with digoxin at a higher rate than men as a rate control agent for AF may be worsening their health outcomes. Current literature demonstrates a clear systemic gender bias in favour of men within the healthcare field. Due to traditional gender stereotypes and roles, women's pain and symptoms from AF are often taken less seriously by healthcare practitioners, influencing their treatment, outcomes, and overall quality of life compared to men. Furthermore, the gender bias extends beyond the management of AF, also influencing the systemic trust women have in the healthcare system. Women's concerns who healthcare practitioners downplay may lead to them not seeking medical attention in the future, further endangering their health.

Racial Disparities

Societal and cultural norms also play a prominent role in exacerbating racial and ethnic disparities in the delivery of healthcare for AF. These disparities arise from implicit biases, social determinants of health, health literacy and systemic trust in the healthcare system. Research has shown that black and Hispanic patients with low incomes were found to be associated with lower use of rhythm control and cathartic ablation respectively (Eberly et al., 2021). The lower use of these treatment interventions arguably equates to a delivery of suboptimal care for these populations as it was observed in another study that private insurance and higher household income were associated with an increased likelihood of undergoing ablation (Kummer et al.,

2015). This is significant because it portrays how income levels create an implicit bias for these healthcare workers to treat individuals and groups differently for AF. Furthermore, there is a disparity in health literacy regarding AF among ethnic groups. Research has indicated that non-white patients with lower education levels have been shown to be less likely to receive care from cardiologists for AF (O'Neal et al., 2018). There is a clear implicit bias among healthcare practitioners to treat individuals with lower education differently, resulting in the minority population receiving less information, suboptimal care, and experiencing poorer health outcomes. Finally, societal and cultural norms rooted in systemic mistrust of the healthcare system exacerbate racial disparities observed in the treatment of many Indigenous communities. Data from the PINNACLE/NCDR registry found that American Indian and Alaskan Native patients were less likely to be treated with rhythm-control interventions for AF compared to non-American patients (Khalid et al., 2020). This discrepancy can be attributed to the historical injustices faced by these indigenous communities regarding unethical practices and research being conducted without their consent. As a result, there is a deeply rooted mistrust in Western medicine, resulting in the reluctance to try newer therapies for AF. Furthermore, many of these communities prioritize traditional holistic practices to health and healing compared to the reductionist approach of symptom prevention in Western medicine (Koithan & Farrell, 2010). This avoidance of Western medicine in Indigenous communities contributes to poorer outcomes in AF, highlighting the importance of incorporating their cultural perspectives into treatment strategies (Howard et al., 1999)

Conclusion

In conclusion, addressing AF within the healthcare field requires a holistic approach that considers the interactions between: genes, hormones, organs, body, and environment and

sociocultural influences. Throughout this paper, we explored how sex and gender disparities can influence the severity and the risk of developing AF and how these factors are often more complex than perceived due to a myriad of factors. The onset of AF is more prevalent in men compared to women. Still, women who do develop AF tend to experience poorer outcomes compared to men, including higher rates of stroke, hospitalization, and mortality. The current notion amongst healthcare workers in Western medicine is to consistently treat diseases such as AF with reductionist thinking, whereby the role of sex and gender disparities is not considered. This approach falls short as it does not recognize the complexity of AF. There is an urgency to foster greater awareness among healthcare professionals of promoting inclusivity for all individuals, regardless of their gender, in addressing different conditions including AF. As a result, future research needs to be tailored towards prevention centred on patients, emphasizing a systemic view of the interconnected aspects to achieve inclusive and equitable delivery of AF care. By doing this, we can strive towards optimizing maximal patient care and enhancing overall cardiovascular health for individuals of all genders.

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend our gratitude to Dr. Stacey Ritz and Dr. Jennifer Williams for their invaluable guidance, encouragement, and insightful contributions throughout the process of conducting this comprehensive literature review. Both of their expertise and dedication significantly enhanced our understanding of the intricate relationship between sex, gender, and health and its impact on AF in adults. Furthermore, their mentorship and unwavering support played a pivotal role in shaping the clarity and depth of our exploration into this field.

References

American Psychological Association. (2023, November). *Stress in America 2023*. Apa.org. https://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2023/collective-trauma-recovery

Ball, J., Carrington, M. J., Wood, K. A., & Stewart, S. (2013). Women Versus Men with Chronic Atrial Fibrillation: Insights from the Standard Versus Atrial Fibrillation spEcific managemenT studY (SAFETY). *PLoS ONE*, 8(5), e65795. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065795

- Basta, M., & Pandya, A. M. (2024). Genetics, X-Linked Inheritance. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557383/
- Bhave, P. D., Lu, X., Saket Girotra, Kamel, H., & Vaughan, M. S. (2015). Race- and sex-related differences in care for patients newly diagnosed with atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm*, 12(7), 1406–1412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.03.031
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, October 14). *Atrial fibrillation*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/atrial_fibrillation.htm
- Chen, Y.-H., Xu, S.-J., Bendahhou, S., Wang, X.-L., Wang, Y., Xu, W.-Y., Jin, H.-W., Sun, H., Su, X.-Y., Zhuang, Q.-N., Yang, Y.-Q., Li, Y.-B., Liu, Y., Xu, H.-J., Li, X.-F., Ma, N., Mou, C.-P., Chen, Z., Barhanin, J., & Huang, W. (2003). KCNQ1 gain-of-function mutation in familial atrial fibrillation. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 299(5604), 251–254. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1077771

Chugh, S. S., Havmoeller, R., Narayanan, K., Singh, D., Rienstra, M., Benjamin, E. J., Gillum,
R. F., Kim, Y.-H., McAnulty, J. H., Zheng, Z.-J., Forouzanfar, M. H., Naghavi, M.,
Mensah, G. A., Ezzati, M., & Murray, C. J. L. (2014). Worldwide epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. *Circulation*, *129*(8), 837–847. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005119

- Conen, D., Chiuve, S. E., Everett, B. M., Zhang, S. M., Buring, J. E., & Albert, C. M. (2010).
 Caffeine consumption and incident atrial fibrillation in women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 92(3), 509–514. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2010.29627
- Coppi, F., Bucciarelli, V., Giorgia Sinigaglia, Zanini, G., Selleri, V., Nasi, M., Pinti, M., Gallina, S., & Anna Vittoria Mattioli. (2023). Sex Related Differences in the Complex
 Relationship between Coffee, Caffeine and Atrial Fibrillation. *Nutrients*, *15*(15), 3299–3299. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15153299
- Cove, C. L., Albert, C. M., Andreotti, F., Badimon, L., Van Gelder, I. C., & Hylek, E. M. (2013).
 Female sex as an independent risk factor for stroke in atrial fibrillation: Possible mechanisms. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, *111*(3), 385–391. Scopus.
 https://doi.org/10.1160/TH13-04-0347
- Dou, W., Huang, Y., Liu, X., Huang, C., Huang, J., Xu, B., Yang, L., Liu, Y., Lei, X., Xu, L.,
 Huang, J., Lin, J., Liu, D., Zhang, P., Shao, J., Liu, C., & Zhang, H. (2023). Associations of Oral Contraceptive Use With Cardiovascular Disease and All-Cause Death: Evidence From the UK Biobank Cohort Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.123.030105
- Eberly, L. A., Garg, L., Yang, L., Markman, T. M., Nathan, A. S., Eneanya, N. D., Dixit, S., Marchlinski, F. E., Groeneveld, P. W., & Frankel, D. S. (2021). Racial/Ethnic and

Socioeconomic Disparities in Management of Incident Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA Network Open, 4(2), e210247–e210247.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0247

- Erlandsdotter, L.-M., Giammarino, L., Halili, A., Nikesjö, J., Gréen, H., Odening, K. E., & Liin,
 S. I. (2023). Long-QT mutations in KCNE1 modulate the 17β-estradiol response of
 Kv7.1/KCNE1. *Science Advances*, 9(11), eade7109.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.ade7109
- Essien, U. R., Jelena Kornej, Johnson, A. E., Schulson, L. B., Benjamin, E. J., & Magnani, J. W.
 (2021). Social determinants of atrial fibrillation. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *18*(11), 763–773. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-021-00561-0
- Howard, B. V., Lee, E. T., Cowan, L. D., Devereux, R. B., Galloway, J. M., Go, O. T., Howard,
 W. J., Rhoades, E. R., Robbins, D. C., Sievers, M. L., & Welty, T. K. (1999). Rising Tide
 of Cardiovascular Disease in American Indians. Circulation, 99(18), 2389–2395.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.99.18.2389
- Khalid, U., Marzec, L. N., Mantini, N., Manson, S. M., Doros, G., Cannon, C. P., Song, Y.,
 Dong, L., Hsu, J. C., Jeong, M. Y., Virani, S. S., & Maddox, T. M. (2020). Treatment of
 AF in American Indians and Alaska Natives: Insights From the NCDR PINNACLE-AF
 Registry. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 75(21), 2749–2750.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.069
- Kishi, S., Reis, J. P., Bharath Ambale Venkatesh, Gidding, S. S., Armstrong, A. C., Jacobs, D. R.,
 Sidney, S., Wu, C. O., Cook, N. L., Lewis, C. E., Schreiner, P. J., Akihiro Isogawa, Liu,
 K., & Joao A.C. Lima. (2015). Race–Ethnic and Sex Differences in Left Ventricular
 Structure and Function: The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults

(CARDIA) Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.114.001264

Ko, D., Rahman, F., Schnabel, R. B., Yin, X., Benjamin, E. J., & Christophersen, I. E. (2016).
 Atrial fibrillation in women: epidemiology, pathophysiology, presentation, and prognosis.
 Nature Reviews Cardiology, *13*(6), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2016.45

Koithan, M., & Farrell, C. (2010). Indigenous Native American Healing Traditions. The Journal

for Nurse Practitioners, 6(6), 477–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2010.03.016

- Kostopoulou, A., Zeljko, H. M., Harilaos Bogossian, Radu Ciudin, Costa, F., Jordi Heijman,
 Kochhaeuser, S., Manola, S., Scherr, D., Sohal, M., Reza Wakili, Wolf, M., & Irfan, G.
 (2019). Atrial fibrillation-related stroke in women: Evidence and inequalities in
 epidemiology, mechanisms, clinical presentation, and management. *Clinical Cardiology*,
 43(1), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.23284
- Kummer, B. R., Bhave, P. D., Merkler, A. E., Gialdini, G., Okin, P. M., & Kamel, H. (2015).
 Demographic Differences in Catheter Ablation After Hospital Presentation Wi 12
 Symptomatic Atrial Fibrillation. Journal of the American Heart Association, 4(9),
 e002097. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.115.002097
- Lee, J., Kim, Y., Park, H., Kim, C., Cho, S., & Kim, J. (2021). Clinical Impact of Hormone Replacement Therapy on Atrial Fibrillation in Postmenopausal Women: A Nationwide Cohort Study. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 10(23), 5497. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10235497
- Lorca, R., Junco-Vicente, A., Martin-Fernandez, M., Pascual, I., Aparicio, A., Barja, N., Cuesta-LLavona, E., Roces, L., Avanzas, P., Moris, C., Coto, E., Rodríguez Reguero, J.

J., & Gómez, J. (2020). Clinical Implications and Gender Differences of KCNQ1
p.Gly168Arg Pathogenic Variant in Long QT Syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(12), 3846. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9123846

- Lu, Z., Aribas, E., Geurts, S., Roeters van Lennep, J. E., Ikram, M. A., Bos, M. M., de Groot, N.
 M. S., & Kavousi, M. (2022). Association Between Sex-Specific Risk Factors and Risk of New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation Among Women. *JAMA Network Open*, 5(9), e2229716. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.29716
- Marzona, I., Proietti, M., Farcomeni, A., Romiti, G. F., Romanazzi, I., Raparelli, V., Basili, S., Lip, G. Y. H., Nobili, A., & Roncaglioni, M. C. (2018). Sex differences in stroke and major adverse clinical events in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 993,600 patients. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 269(Complete), 182–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.07.044
- NHS. (2017, October 20). Atrial fibrillation. Nhs.uk.
 - https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/atrial-fibrillation/#:~:text=Atrial%20fibrillation%20is%20 a%20heart
- O'Neal, W. T., Sangal, K., Zhang, Z.-M., & Soliman, E. Z. (2014). Atrial Fibrillation and Incident Myocardial Infarction in the Elderly. *Clinical Cardiology*, *37*(12), 750–755. https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.22339
- O'Neil, A., Scovelle, A. J., Milner, A. J., & Kavanagh, A. (2018). Gender/Sex as a Social Determinant of Cardiovascular Risk. *Circulation*, *137*(8), 854–864. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.117.028595

- O'Neal, W. T., Sandesara, P. B., Claxton, J. S., MacLehose, R. F., Chen, L. Y., Bengtson, L. G. S., Chamberlain, A. M., Norby, F. L., Lutsey, P. L., & Alonso, A. (2018). Influence of Sociodemographic Factors and Provider Specialty on Anticoagulation Prescription Fill Patterns and Outcomes in Atrial Fibrillation. The American Journal of Cardiology, 122(3), 388–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.04.022
- Pancholy, S. B., Sharma, P. S., Pancholy, D. S., Patel, T. M., Callans, D. J., & Marchlinski, F. E. (2014). Meta-Analysis of Gender Differences in Residual Stroke Risk and Major
 Bleeding in Patients With Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation Treated With Oral
 Anticoagulants. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *113*(3), 485–490.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.10.035
- Paquette, M., Roy, D., Talajic, M., Newman, D., Couturier, A., Yang, C., & Dorian, P. (2000).
 Role of gender and personality on quality-of-life impairment in intermittent atrial fibrillation. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 86(7), 764–768.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9149(00)01077-8
- Patel, N., Deshmukh, A., Thakkar, B., Coffey, J. O., Agnihotri, K., Patel, A., Nitesh Ainani,
 Nikhil Nalluri, Patel, N., Patel, N., Patel, N., Apurva Badheka, Kowalski, M., Hendel, R.
 C., Viles-Gonzalez, J. F., Noseworthy, P. A., Asirvatham, S. J., Lo, K., Myerburg, R. J., &
 Mitrani, R. D. (2016). Gender, Race, and Health Insurance Status in Patients Undergoing
 Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *117*(7),
 1117–1126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.01.040
- Piccini, J. P., Simon, D. N., Steinberg, B. A., Thomas, L., Allen, L. A., Fonarow, G. C., Gersh,B., Hylek, E., Kowey, P. R., Reiffel, J. A., Naccarelli, G. V., Chan, P. S., Spertus, J. A.,Peterson, E. D., & Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial

Fibrillation (ORBIT-AF) Investigators and Patients. (2016). Differences in Clinical and Functional Outcomes of Atrial Fibrillation in Women and Men: Two-Year Results From the ORBIT-AF Registry. *JAMA Cardiology*, *1*(3), 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2016.0529

Poli, D., Antonucci, E., Grifoni, E., Abbate, R., Gensini, G. F., & Prisco, D. (2009). Gender differences in stroke risk of atrial fibrillation patients on oral anticoagulant treatment. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 101(5), 938–942.

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19404548/

- Roselli, C., Rienstra, M., & Ellinor, P. T. (2020a). Genetics of Atrial Fibrillation in 2020: GWAS, Genome Sequencing, Polygenic Risk, and Beyond. *Circulation Research*, 127(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316575
- Scheuermeyer, F., Mackay, M., Christenson, J., Grafstein, E., Reza Pourvali, Heslop, C.,
 MacPhee, J., Ward, J., Heilbron, B., McGrath, L., & Humphries, K. H. (2015). There Are
 Sex Differences in the Demographics and Risk Profiles of Emergency Department (ED)
 Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and Flutter, but no Apparent Differences in ED
 Management or Outcomes. *Wiley Online Library*, 22(9), 1067–1075.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/acem.12750
- Soliman, E. Z., Safford, M. M., Muntner, P., Khodneva, Y., Dawood, F. Z., Zakai, N. A., Thacker,
 E. L., Judd, S., Howard, V. J., Howard, G., Herrington, D. M., & Cushman, M. (2014).
 Atrial Fibrillation and the Risk of Myocardial Infarction. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(1), 107. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.11912

St Pierre, S. R., Peirlinck, M., & Kuhl, E. (2022). Sex Matters: A Comprehensive Comparison of Female and Male Hearts. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 13(1), 831179. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2022.831179

- Svensson, T., Mariusz Kitlinski, Gunnar Engström, & Melander, O. (2017). Psychological stress and risk of incident atrial fibrillation in men and women with known atrial fibrillation genetic risk scores. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42613
- Vaziri, S. M., Larson, M. G., Benjamin, E. J., & Levy, D. (1994). Echocardiographic predictors of nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 89(2), 724–730. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.89.2.724
- Vinciguerra, M., Dobrev, D., & Nattel, S. (2024). Atrial fibrillation: Pathophysiology, genetic and epigenetic mechanisms. *The Lancet Regional Health – Europe*, 37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2023.100785
- Vijaykumar Bodar, Chen, J., J. Michael Gaziano, Albert, C., & Luc Djoussé. (2019). Coffee
 Consumption and Risk of Atrial Fibrillation in the Physicians' Health Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association. Cardiovascular and Cerebrovascular Disease*, 8(15).
 https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.118.011346
- Washam, J. B., Stevens, S. R., Lokhnygina, Y., Halperin, J. L., Breithardt, G., Singer, D. E.,
 Mahaffey, K. W., Hankey, G. J., Berkowitz, S. D., Nessel, C. C., Fox, K. A. A., Califf, R.
 M., Piccini, J. P., & Patel, M. R. (2015). Digoxin use in patients with atrial fibrillation and adverse cardiovascular outcomes: a retrospective analysis of the Rivaroxaban Once Daily
 Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared with Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of

Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation (ROCKET AF). *The Lancet*, 385(9985), 2363–2370. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61836-5

- Westerman, S., & Wenger, N. (2019). Gender Differences in Atrial Fibrillation: A Review of Epidemiology, Management, and Outcomes. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, 15(2), 136–144. https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X15666181205110624
- Wren, G., & Davies, W. (2022). Sex-linked genetic mechanisms and atrial fibrillation risk. *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, 65(4), 104459.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2022.104459